1980

## Robert B. Hansen, Attorney General v. Utah State Retirement Board, Et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal involves the interpretation of the constitutional and statutory powers of the Attorney General of the State of Utah to appoint independent legal counsel for State agencies. The State Legislature has enabled some State agencies and State funds to appoint their own independent counsel, but the Attorney General asserts that the Utah

Constitution and pertinent statutes implemented in accordance therewith provide that only the Attorney General has the power to appoint independent legal counsel for State agencies and funds. Legislative attempts to the contrary derogate and diminish the clear constitutional authority of the Attorney General.

The Attorney General appeals from adverse rulings, which, if allowed to stand, not only misinterpret the constitutional authority of this office, but also approve disturbing inequities, allowing some agencies and funds to enjoy advantages and capabilities not shared by all.

#### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On February 2, 1979, appellant filed this lawsuit in the District Court of the Third Judicial District, seeking a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief against all the named defendants: Utah State Retirement Board ("Retirement Board"); Utah State Retirement Fund ("Retirement Fund"); Utah State Industrial Commission ("Industrial Commission"), and Utah State Insurance Fund ("Insurance Fund"); University of Utah Hospital ("Hospital"), for the University Medical Center Trust Fund ("Medical Center Trust Fund"); First Security Bank of Utah ("Bank"), Trustee. The Complaint alleged that State agencies, State funds, and quasi-State agencies and funds, by appointing their own legal counsel, were acting in contravention of the constitutional and statutory authority of the Attorney General.

Further, that said respondents could only reimburse the Attorney General if they received Federal funds.

On February 20, 1979, respondents, Retirement Board and Retirement Fund, filed a Motion to Sever as to all respondents (R. 8, 9), which was denied on March 2, 1979, by Judge Sawaya (R. 21) in a Memorandum opinion.

On June 5, 1979, Judge Durham granted a Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 42) in favor of the Medical Center Trust Fund and respondent, Bank, Trustee. (R. 70)

In a Memorandum decision dated August 24, 1979, (R. 221), Judge Durham, treating a Motion to Dismiss filed by respondent, Insurance Fund, as a Motion for Summary Judgment, granted the same.

On December 14, 1979, Judge Homer F. Wilkinson granted a Motion for Summary Judgment in favor of respondents, Retirement Board and Retirement Fund (R. 306, 307). On December 31, 1979, Judge Wilkinson also granted a Motion for Summary Judgment in favor of respondent, Industrial Commission (R. 308, 309, 308A, 308B, and 308C).

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

This is a consolidated appeal of the above three cases (16560, 16714, and 16851), occasioned by four separate Orders from the District Court by two different judges. Appellant seeks a reversal of the decisions of the Third Judicial District Court as to all respondents and the authority they assert to appoint their own legal counsel. Appellant

maintains said claimed authority is without merit and unconstitutional.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 2, 1979, appellant, the Attorney General of the State of Utah, filed suit in the District Court of Salt Lake County, against the Utah State Retirement Board and Utah State Retirement Fund; the Utah State Industrial Commission; the Utah State Insurance Fund, and the University of Utah, for and in behalf of the University of Utah Hospital for the University Medical Center Trust Fund and the First Security Bank of Utah, trustee for the Medical Center Trust Fund.

The gravamen of the Complaint alleged that the agencies and the funds, by appointing their own legal counsel, were acting in contravention of the authority of the Attorney General. The authority of the Attorney General is provided for in Art. VII, Section 18 of the Utah Constitution, as follows:

"The Attorney General shall be the legal adviser of the State Officers, and shall perform such other duties as may be provided by law."

This authority is also provided for in Section 67-5-1, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, wherein it states the Attorney General shall:

"... prosecute or defend all causes to which the state or any officer, board or commission thereof in an official capacity is a party; and he shall have charge as attorney of all civil legal matters in which the state is in anywise interested."

Section 67-5-5, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, reads:

"Except where specifically authorized by the Utah Constitution, or statutes, no agency shall hire legal counsel, and the attorney general alone shall have the sole right to hire legal counsel for each such agency. Unless he hires such legal counsel from outside his office, the attorney general shall remain the sole legal counsel for that agency. If such outside counsel is hired for an agency, then that agency must report to the attorney general for his approval the full costs of this counsel and the attorney general shall pay the same."

In particular, the Complaint alleged that the Retirement Board was an independent State agency and that the Retirement Fund was a quasi-State agency fund. The Complaint further alleged that the Utah State Industrial Commission was a State agency, and that the Utah State Insurance Fund was a quasi-State agency fund created by the Legislature and under the authority of the Finance Commission.

It was further alleged that the University of Utah, for and in behalf of the University Medical Center, was a medical hospital and teaching college, authorized by the State Legislature and a State agency. It was further alleged that the University Medical Center Trust Fund, administered by First Security Bank as trustee to provide medical malpractice protection to physicians and other medical service individuals at the University Medical Center and funded, in part, from legislative appropriations, was a quasi-State agency fund. It was further alleged that the enactment of Senate Bill 172 in the 1979 General Session of the Utah Legislature was an unconstitutional delegation of power in contravention of the authority of the Attorney General. Senate Bill 172 was

codified in Section 63-30-28, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, and, in pertinent part, reads as follows:

"... Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, the trust agreement between the governmental entity and the trustee may authorize the trustee to employ counsel to defend actions against the entity and its employees and to protect and safeguard the assets of the trust, to provide for claims investigation and adjustment services, to employ expert witnesses and consultants, and to provide such other services and functions necessary and proper to carry out the purposes of the trust."

The Attorney General contended that the legislation (hereinafter specifically cited in the Argument), which established the State agencies or State quasi-agency funds to the extent they authorized said bodies to appoint, hire, or their agents to so appoint or hire, usurped the constitutional duties and functions of the Attorney General in acting as legal adviser to State officers and State agencies and State-quasi agencies.

Respondents Retirement Fund, Insurance Fund, and the Medical Center Trust Fund answered that they are independent trusts, receiving funds from others in addition to the State, and based on their origin of funds as well as general trust law, they are neither State agencies nor State quasi-agency funds and are not, therefore, subject to the Attorney General's constitutional authority to appoint legal counsel for State officers and State agencies; and that if they are in any way so controlled, Section 67-5-5, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, constitutes an



exception to said Attorney General's authority. Section 67-5-5, in pertinent part, states:

"Except where specifically authorized by the Utah Constitution, or statutes, no agency shall hire legal counsel... ."

Said respondents maintain that since they are each specifically governed by statutes which authorize them to have legal counsel, there is no violation of the Attorney General's authority under Art. VII, Section 18 of the Utah Constitution; Sections 35-1-32, 67-5-1, or 67-5-5, U.C.A. (1953), as amended.

Respondents, Hospital, Medical Center Trust Fund, and Bank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. With regard to this Motion, Judge Christine Durham rendered two Orders: the first granted Summary Judgments in favor of the Hospital, for and on behalf of the Medical Center Trust Fund, and the second in favor of the Insurance Fund.

Appellant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with supporting memorandum against the Retirement Board, the Retirement Fund, and the Industrial Commission. The Retirement Board and Retirement Fund filed Motions for Summary Judgment. The Industrial Commission had in July, 1979, previously filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Judge Homer F. Wilkinson granted all three Motions for Summary Judgment in favor of respondents.

Subsequent to the Orders of Judge Durham and while the Motions before Judge Wilkinson were pending, appellant moved this Court to

consolidate all matters for this appeal, and the same was granted with the final portion of the record being put in place March 24, 1980. (R. 308A, 308B, 308C)

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF SEPARATION OF POWERS ADOPTED BY THE UTAH CONSTITUTION, ART. V, SECTION 1, THE OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL IS AN ELECTED OFFICE WITHIN THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH, HAVING BOTH COMMON-LAW POWERS AND DUTIES AND CONSTITUTIONAL DUTIES.

The Attorney General's authority is both as a member of the Executive Branch of government as well as an officer of court a part of the Judicial Branch of government. Therefore, the powers granted and inherent in his office should not be encroached upon by the Governor, the Executive Branch, or the Legislature.

Art. V, Section 1 of the Utah Constitution, provides:

"The powers of the government of the State of Utah shall be divided into three distinct departments, the Legislative, the Executive, and the Judicial; and no person charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments, shall exercise any functions appertaining to either of the others, except in the cases herein expressly directed or permitted."

The Attorney General, in acting as legal adviser for public officers, functions in an executive role. Some States appoint their Attorney Generals, and this is done by constitutional mandate. Others are elected, as is the case in Utah. The Attorney General also gives advice to the

judiciary, as he and his staff appear in the various courts of this State, and as officers of said courts, give legal advice and guidance. This concept is illustrated in State v. City of Kansas City, Kansas, 186 Kans. 190, 350 P.2d 37, in an action of quo warranto in a question as to whether the Attorney General could intervene in the Supreme Court and supersede the county attorney in an action. The Kansas Supreme Court, March 5, 1960, at page 42 of the opinion, says:

"... We conclude the Attorney General by his motion to intervene and supersede the county attorney exercised his powers and duties under the Constitution and appropriate statutes. This was as far as he could go as an executive officer and as an attorney and officer of this court. Since he is an officer of the judicial branch, under the separation of powers of the three branches of government, he was limited and restricted in his conduct before this court by the code of professional ethics ... to the same extent any other lawyer would be. If, therefore, the Attorney General considered the action unmeritorious, he not only had the authority, but he also had a duty to move for dismissal. We cannot think the framers of our State Constitution or the members of the Legislature ever intended that the Governor should have control over the judicial branch, or its officers, as is advocated... . Each of the three branches of our government should be zealous of its jurisdiction, and each should be vigilant to see that it does not encroach upon the jurisdiction of the other two... ." (Emphasis added.)

Art. V, Section 1 of the Utah Constitution, was not intended to create three completely autonomous bodies, but was intended to create three separate branches of government that make up the traditional structure in this country. Madison commented on the concept in The Federalist,

No. XLVII Vol. 1, p. 331 (Cent L. Jed 1916):

"... He /Montesquie/ did not mean that these departments ought to have no partial agency in, or no control over, the acts of each other. His meaning, as his own words import, and still more conclusively as illustrated by the example in his eye, can amount to no more than this, that where the whole power of one department is exercised by the same hands which possess the whole power of another department, the fundamental principles of a free Constitution are subverted... ."

The purpose of an elected Attorney General is to give him some degree of autonomy as he functions as legal adviser to all State officers, agencies, quasi-State agencies; State agency funds and quasi-State agency funds. That autonomy must be in the office of the Attorney General. This was well illustrated by State v. City of Kansas City, supra, where it was attempted that the Attorney General would be ordered to do this or that at the bidding of the Governor, when, in his independent legal judgment and as legal adviser to the State, acting both for State officers as well as in the best interest of the people of the State, he may have to move forward with an action separate and distinct from that desired by, or even ordered by, the Governor.

On the Federal level and in many States, the Attorney General is appointed rather than elected. Appellant alleges, therefore, that our structure for separation of powers as it directly affects the office of the elected Attorney General in the State of Utah means that the framers of the Utah Constitution desired that the Attorney General function as a

separate legal adviser for the administration of State government within the Executive Branch but not subservient solely to the Executive Branch, acting as a separate constitutional office.

Each of the departments and divisions of State government has autonomy and importance. We ask: Why is the Attorney General an elected rather than an appointed officer within the Executive Branch? The reason is to enable the Attorney General to be answerable to the public and to respond to the public weal. His responsibility is ultimately to those who elect him, as is every elected officer of the Executive Branch. If they do not function as desired by the people of the State of Utah, then a change can be made in that constitutionally elected office just as that change can be made in any other elected official of the State government, starting at the level of Governor.

Under our separation of powers within the State of Utah, the Legislature cannot adversely affect the executive role of Governor, except as it does so within the confines of its own constitutionally delegated powers. The Legislature is elected and responsible to the public at large for its conduct. By the same token, the Legislature and its powers cannot be emasculated by the Executive Branch or merely function as a rubber stamp of the Governor but operates side-by-side in those separate roles--one creating law and the other having a responsibility of carrying those laws into effect through the executive structure of State government.

Likewise, the Judicial Branch has its autonomy, and it, likewise, serving as elected officials of the State, is ultimately responsible to the people.

(A) COMMON-LAW DUTIES OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Hansen v. Barlow, 23 Utah 2d 47, 456 P.2d 177, again settled the question as to whether Utah accepts the doctrine that common-law powers and duties were in the office of the Attorney General. The Court stated at page 178:

"However, this Court has repeatedly held that the Attorney General has common-law powers and duties."

The Court quoting Olsen v. Public Service Commission, 129 Mont. 106, 283 P.2d 594 (1955), as a case relied upon, was due to the similarity between the Utah and Montana Constitutions on this subject. (Other States do not have common-law powers, such as Idaho and New Mexico.)

Both cases quoted a landmark decision in this field, Darling Apartment Co. v. Springer, 25 Del. Ch. 420, 22 A.2d 397, 403, 137 A.L.R. 803, 811, which says:

"The authorities substantially agree that in addition to those conferred upon it by statute, the office (the Attorney General) is clothed with all the powers and duties pertaining thereto at common law; and as chief law officer of the state, the Attorney General, in the absence of express legislative restriction to the contrary, may exercise all such power and authority as the public interests may from time-to-time require. In short, the Attorney General's powers are as broad as the common law unless restricted or modified by statute."



In Hansen v. Barlow, supra, case, the Court concludes:

"After consideration of our Constitution, statutes and decisions of sister courts, we are of the opinion that it is within the rights of the Attorney General, if not his duty, to bring suits to clarify the constitutionality of laws enacted by the Legislature if it deems it appropriate. He is in a much more informed, duty entrusted, and advantageous position to do so than the individual citizen and taxpayer."

Hansen v. Barlow, supra, was brought by the Attorney General to determine the rightness and constitutionality of legislative enactments, which encroach upon his constitutional and statutory authority. In Hansen v. Barlow, supra, both the questions of the Attorney General having common-law powers and having the right and duty to make this type of determination, are set at rest.

B. THE ATTORNEY GENERAL MUST OPERATE WITHIN THIS SEPARATION OF POWERS IN HIS CONSTITUTIONAL AND ELECTED AUTHORITY, EVEN IN FACE OF SUBSEQUENT STATUTORY INROADS.

Hansen v. Barlow, supra, well illustrates the necessity for the Attorney General, by virtue of his inherent authority, to initiate actions to determine whether legislative amendments are right or constitutional. The Attorney General further has a duty to intervene as illustrated by State v. City of Kansas City, Kansas, supra, and this responsibility is further illustrated by a South Dakota case where Judge Campbell, in Johnson v. Jones, 48 S.Dak. 397, 204 N.W. 897, says:

"Viewing all sections together, we believe the most liberal construction that could be placed upon the



authority granted by Section 5 of the original Act to 'employ attorneys' would be to hold that the board authorized to employ attorneys for mere routine matters requiring the services of an attorney, but not requiring the rendering of legal advice or opinions upon points of law, or matters of legal right or policy of the board, and we think that any such attorneys so employed would be under the supervision, control, and direction of the Attorney General as general legal adviser of the board... ."

There was a conflict between the allowance by statute of a board to have legal counsel and the Attorney General's power to appoint. The Court resolved the conflict reserving certain authority in the Attorney General and showing that there must be a limitation so as not to improperly encroach upon the general powers of the Attorney General, as legal adviser--not only for the board but for all State officers.

In Keenan v. Board of Chosen Freeholders of the County of Essex, 101 N.J. Super. 495, 244 A.2d 705, the Court said, at page 711:

"... The exclusive right of the Attorney General to represent the State agency ... was derived from that official common-law status as the legal representative of the sovereign and his historic identification with the public interest. Therefore, he exercises 'all such power and authority as the public interest may from time-to-time require' in the absence of 'express legislative restriction to the contrary.'"

In that case the Superior Court of New Jersey held that the County Superintendent of Elections, also a Commissioner of Registration as an

officer of State government, does not have the power to appoint legal counsel of his own choosing in contravention of the Attorney General and his common-law powers.

In State v. Public Service Commission, 283 P.2d 594 (1955), the Court held that the fact the Attorney General was the attorney for the State Public Service Commission did not affect his right or duty to institute proceedings to set aside telephone rates as fixed by the Commission. The Court held that the Attorney General has the power within his office, by virtue of this constitutional and common-law power, to proceed against public officers to require them to perform duties which they owe to the public in general and to set aside such action as shall be determined to be in excess of their authority, and to have them compelled to execute their authority in accordance with law.

If the Attorney General, as a constitutional office and as an elected official, does not have the reasonable autonomy to function within the office and under the common-law powers granted and within the framework of the separation of powers of the Utah Constitution, both the Legislature and the Executive Branch, through the Governor, could make inroads that would deeply violate these fundamental constitutional principles. The results could be adverse to the wishes of the electorate to whom the Attorney General and all other elected officials are responsible and would be violative of the constitutional grant of authority and the will of those who created the Constitution in the move from a territorial to a statehood status. This is additionally illustrated by Argument II.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT II

THE PROVISIONS IN SECTION 49-9-3, U.C.A. (1953), AS AMENDED; SECTION 49-9-10, U.C.A. (1953), AS AMENDED; SECTION 53-31-46, U.C.A. (1953), AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 63-30-28, U.C.A. (1953), AS AMENDED, CONTRAVENE THE PROVISIONS OF ART. VII, SECTION 18, OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH, AND SECTION 67-5-1, U.C.A. (1953), AS AMENDED, WHICH MANDATE THAT THE ATTORNEY GENERAL SHALL BE THE LEGAL ADVISER FOR STATE OFFICERS OR COMMISSIONS AND HAVE CHARGE OF ALL CIVIL LEGAL MATTERS.

A. ART. VII, SECTION 18 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH, AND SUBSEQUENT LEGISLATION ESTABLISH THE GENERAL DUTIES AND AUTHORITIES OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL.

Art. VII, Section 18 of the Utah Constitution, creates and prescribes the duties of the Attorney General. Section 18 provides:

"The attorney general shall be the legal adviser of the State officers and shall perform such other duties as may be provided by law."

Section 67-5-1, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, provides that the general duties of the Attorney General require him to:

"... prosecute or defend all causes to which the state or any officer, board or commission thereof in an official capacity is a party; and he shall have charge as attorney of all civil legal matters in which the state is in anywise interested."

Section 67-5-5, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, reads:

"Except where specifically authorized by the Utah Constitution, or statutes, no agency shall hire legal counsel, and the attorney general alone shall have the

sole right to hire legal counsel for each such agency. Unless he hires such legal counsel from outside his office, the attorney general shall remain the sole legal counsel for that agency. If such outside counsel is hired for an agency, then that agency must report to the attorney general for his approval the full costs of this counsel and the attorney general shall pay the same."

Each of the respondents claims statutory authority, separate from the Attorney General's Office, to hire or appoint independent legal counsel. Illustrative of this is the claim of the State Insurance Fund, Section 35-3-1, U.C.A. (1953), as amended, which reads, in pertinent part, as follows:

"In the conduct and administration of the business of said fund the commission of finance may appoint with the approval of the governor, a manager, and may employ accountants, inspectors, attorneys, physicians, investigators, clerks, stenographers, and such other experts and assistants as it deems advisable."

The above language is in direct conflict with the language of Art. VII, Section 18 of the Utah Constitution. Given this conflict between State statutes and the cited constitutional provisions, this Court must declare the statute unconstitutional should it conclude, as urged here, that the Director of the Department of Finance (Director of Finance shall herein refer to the Commission of Finance) is a State officer and administrator of the State Insurance Fund.

B. THE MOST RECENT PRONOUNCEMENT OF THE UTAH SUPREME COURT ON THIS POINT SUPPORTS THE

INTERPRETATION THAT THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE  
IS A STATE OFFICER.

In Hansen v. Legal Services Committee of the Utah State Legislature, 19 Utah 2d 231, 429 P.2d 979 (1967), the Attorney General for the State of Utah, Phil L. Hansen, brought suit, challenging the constitutionality of the Legal Services Committee of the State Legislature. The question raised by the Attorney General was whether the State Legislature, by enactment of a statute, could hire its own independent legal adviser. The Court held that the legislators are State officers within the meaning of Art. XXIV, Section 12, of the Utah Constitution, for whom the Attorney General alone serves as legal adviser (Art. VII, Section 18). Hence, the Court struck down the statute which attempted to circumvent Art. VII, Section 18. Subsequently, the Legislature, in order to accomplish its purposes, was forced to amend the Utah Constitution. The amendment (Art. VI, Section 32), provides:

"The Legislature may appoint temporary or permanent nonmember employees for work during and between sessions, including independent legal counsel which shall provide and control all legal services for the Legislature except as the Legislature by law shall authorize performance thereof by the attorney general." (Emphasis added.)

The Department of Finance was first created in 1941 and placed under the supervision of a three-member commission. A 1963 amendment to Section 63-2-2, U.C.A. (1953), substituted the provisions for creation of the office of director of finance for provisions relating to the former

commission of finance.

The Court in Hansen perceived the Legislature's actions as an attempt to emasculate the powers and diminish the duties of the Attorney General. The Court noted in its opinion that, on at least eight previous occasions, similar attempts had been thwarted:

"Certain pressures tried to abolish the office of the Attorney General as a member of the Board of Examiners, by constitutional amendment at the election last year. The people turned down that attempt, along with seven others, by a thumping 70% vote because apparently they thought our Constitution borne by the seat of its framers in an unairconditioned building did a pretty good job which has served the commonwealth pretty well." (19 Utah 2d at 232, 429, P.2d at 980)

In reaching this conclusion, the Court emphasized the dangerous ramifications of a contrary ruling which would allow the Legislature to encroach upon the Attorney General's constitutional grant of powers.

The instant case highlights the continuing attempts to reduce the Attorney General's powers by allowing a State agency, State trust fund, a State director (or commission), or a quasi-State agency or fund, rather than the Legislature, to hire independent legal counsel. The question is the same; only the parties have changed. The quintessential issue still emerges as whether the constitutional grant of power to the Attorney General may be emasculated or diminished, allowing appointed or lesser-elected State officers to do the very things that the Legislature cannot do. Such an impermissible result was anticipated by Hansen, as the following observation aptly reveals:



"If the legislature, by fiat, could create its own legal adviser, then logic would say it could create 50 or more others for itself, each of which, of course, would have to have secretaries and other personnel. Such legislation could be extended to legal advisers for the Governor, State Auditor, Treasurer, Secretary of State and everyone else, in which event the office of Attorney General effectively could be emasculated and rendered impotent. We believe the framers of the Constitution had no such intention in mind under our tri-partite system of government." (19 Utah 2d at 233, 429 P.2d at 980) (Emphasis added.)

The Court's deliberate use of the open-ended phrase "and everyone else" is sufficiently broad to encompass the appointed and lesser-elected State officers, since such officers usually belong to the Executive Branch of which the Governor, Auditor, Treasurer, and Secretary of State are the chief officers. The former are agents of the latter.

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