1980

Robert B. Hansen, Attorney General v. Utah State Retirement Board, Et al. : Respondent University Medical Center Trust Fund, First Security Bank of Utah, Trustee : Brief of Respondent University Medical Center Trust Fund, First Security Bank of Utah, Trustee

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FIRST SECURITY BANK, AS TRUSTEE, HAS SPECIFIC STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO EMPLOY ATTORNEYS.

Utah Code Ann. §63-30-28 (as amended in 1979), specifically authorizes governmental entities, supported in whole or in part by Federal sources, to self-insure and establish a trust account to pay the costs of investigation, defense, judgments and settlements, in connection with claims which may arise against the governmental entity. The statute specifically provides in material part as follows:

* * *

". . . Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, the trust agreement between the governmental entity and the trustee may authorize the trustee to employ counsel to defend actions against the entity and its employees, and to protect and safeguard the assets of the trust, to provide for claims investigation and adjustment services, to employ expert witnesses and consultants, and to provide such other services and functions necessary and proper to carry out the purposes of the trust."

The self-insurance trust agreement with the Bank authorizes the Bank, as Trustee, to:

"5. Make payments from the trust fund:

* * *

(c) For legal expenses, including expenses of litigation, witness fees, counsel fees, and other costs and expenses related to the investigation, settlement, trial or appellate proceedings involving such claims, or related to any legal questions or litigation relating to the validity or administration of this trust or any provision of this trust agreement;"

It also authorizes the Bank, as Trustee, to:

"6. . . . employ and pay solely from the trust funds such personnel, including but not limited to, attorneys, investigators, claims managers, actuaries, consultants and risk managers, together with related supporting services, as may be necessary and proper to effective administration of the self-insurance program. . . .

The Attorney General's argument that only he may represent the State or any of its agencies in any legal matter, in which the State has an interest, rests upon Utah Code Ann. §67-5-1 (1977), which provides that the Attorney General has the duty:

"(1) To attend the Supreme Court of this state, and all courts of the United States, and prosecute or defend all causes to which the state or any officer, board or commission thereof in an official capacity is a party; and he shall have charge as attorney of all civil legal matters in which the state is in anywise interested."

This statute does not create, nor attempt to create, an irrevocable assignment of duties in the Attorney General. The power by which the Legislature of the State of Utah adopted this statute also allows the Legislature to modify, amend or abolish it. The 1979 Legislature spoke clearly when it adopted Utah Code Ann. §63-30-28, which authorizes a trustee to employ counsel "notwithstanding any law to the contrary."

Even if the two statutes were in conflict, which they are not, the statute authorizing the trustee to employ counsel takes precedence over previously enacted more general or conflicting statutes relating to the duties of the Attorney General. Thiokol Chemical Corp. v. Peterson, 15 Utah 2d 355, 393 P.2d 391 (1964); Union Pac. R.R. v. Public Service Comm'n, 103 Utah 186, 134 P.2d 469 (1943).

POINT II

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED §63-30-28 (AS AMENDED 1979), IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Article VII, §18 of the Utah Constitution provides:

The Attorney General shall be the legal advisor of the state officers, and shall perform such other duties as may be provided by law.

The Constitutional duty of the Attorney General is, therefore, to serve as legal advisor to the State officers; all other duties undertaken by the Attorney General are subject to further definition by the Legislature.

This Court has held that the term "state officers" refers to the officers listed in Article XXIV, §12. Hansen vs. Legal Services Comm., 19 Utah 2d 231, 429 P.2d 979 (1967). These include: The Governor, the Secretary of State, State Auditor, State Treasurer, Attorney General, Superintendent of Public Instruction, Members of the Senate and House of Representatives, Supreme Court Judges, District Judges, and Representatives to Congress. Utah Const. Art. XXIV, §12.

Obviously there is a clearly defined difference between being the legal advisor of an "officer" and defending against malpractice and casualty claims filed against a State institution. The Constitution provides that the Attorney General will be the legal advisor of the "state officers" to insure consistency in directing and aiding the elected officers in resolving the problems of government. Defending casualty claims falls far outside of this constitutional requirement, but comes clearly within the "other duties" category which the Legislature is free to define. Most state agencies have for years been defended by counsel retained by insurance companies which insure the agencies. The program of self-

insurance adopted by a state agency is no different in concept. Certainly the Constitutional requirement that the Attorney General be the legal advisor of the State officers cannot logically be interpreted to mean that no other attorney can represent the interests of any state agency or employee on any type of claim. The Legislature has recognized that the State's interest can occasionally be best served by authorizing the employment of independent counsel.

Had the framers of the Constitution intended that the Attorney General's authority be as inclusive as argued by the appellant, it would have been a simple matter for them to have provided that the Attorney General was to be the "legal advisor of the State officers and all state agencies." Rather, the restrictive nature relative to his duties is defined in the constitutional language" . . . such other duties as are provided by law." In this case the Legislature has provided, by law, that a self-insurance trust fund may employ counsel to defend claims against the trust. This is a proper exercise of authority given to the Legislature by the Constitution.

The appellant claims that the separation of powers doctrine somehow prohibits the agencies of the State from employing counsel to represent their interests. We must go

to the actual Constitutional language in order to define the powers extended to the various officers within the three branches of government, if we are to accurately assess the function of each, and not rely simply upon the philosophical concepts upon which the Constitution has its foundation. The fact that the Attorney General is an elected officer suggests his independence from other executive officers; however, it does not establish that he is to have any other duties than those assigned him by the Constitution. His primary Constitutional duty is to be the legal advisor to the state officers. In addition, the Constitution has permitted the Legislature to define his "other duties." There is nothing in the philosophical concept of the separation of powers which prevents the Legislature from authorizing a state agency to be advised by someone other than the Attorney General. The Constitution strictly defines the duties of the Attorney General. The philosophy concerning the provisions of the three departments of government does not override the specific constitutional provisions which form the very cornerstones upon which our form of government is built and structured.

Furthermore, the fact that the Attorney General may have common law powers does not restrict the Legislature from changing these powers under the clear mandate of the

Constitution. The common law must always yield to statutory change. The authority cited by the Attorney General itself clearly acknowledges this principle:

The exclusive right of the Attorney General to represent the state agency . . . was derived from that official common law status as the legal representative of the sovereign and historic identification with the public interest. Therefore, he exercises "all such power and authority as the public interest may from time to time require," in the absence of "express legislative restriction to the contrary."

Keenan v. Board of Chosen Freeholders of the County of Essex, 101 N.J. Super. 495, 244 A.2d 705 (1968) (Cited by appellant at p. 14). (Emphasis added).

CONCLUSION

The State Constitution provides that the Attorney General will act as the advisor of State officers and perform such other functions as required by law. In response to this constitutional mandate the Legislature has "required" him to perform certain additional duties. The Legislature has also provided, in unmistakably clear language, that notwithstanding any law to the contrary, a trust fund, such as that administered by First Security Bank, may employ counsel for the purpose of defending claims and preserving the trust assets.

In any event, the Bank, as Trustee, is not a "state officer" within the meaning of the Constitution. Allowing

the Trustee to retain its own attorneys does not in any manner violate either the spirit of the separation of powers doctrine or the language of the Constitution. Rather, such action is expressly authorized by statute.

The trial court's order dismissing appellant's Complaint should be affirmed.